COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WENDY MICHELLE CHEATHAM

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



NO. 2008-KA-00090-COA

Appeal from Circuit Court of Leake County, Mississippi

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr.
Attorney at Law
P. O. Box 178
Newton, MS 39345
Telephone 601-683-3387
Facsimile 601-683-3110

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Oral Argument IS Requested.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSON

WENDY MICHELLE CHEATHAM

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-00090-COA

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wendy Michelle Cheatham appeals her conviction from the Circuit Court of Leake County, Mississippi, of possession of more than 30 grams of methamphetamine, and a sentence of 10 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, four (4) years of which is suspended, with the Defendant placed on post-conviction supervision for a period of four (4) years and ordered to participate in long term drug and alcohol treatment while in confinement.

FACTS

Prior to Appellant's trial co-indictees McKee and Allen pled guilty to possession of methamphetamine.

Jason McKee lived in a trailer in rural Leake County, Mississippi (T-91).

On April 11, 2007, the Leake County sheriff, some deputy sheriffs and some members of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics conducted a raid of this trailer pursuant to a search warrant (T-25)

Appellant and her man friend, Malcolm Wayne Allen, Jr., had recently driven to the camper and entered. Just before the raid, Appellant exited the trailer, went to her vehicle to get a telephone, and returned to the trailer.

Thereupon the said law enforcement officers emerged from the woods surrounding the trailer to enforce the search warrant.

Sheriff Waggoner broke a sewer pipe leading from the trailer, and what appeared to be methamphetamine fell out on the ground.

Craig Taylor, who at the time of the search was a Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics

agent (T-32), assisted in the search. Appellant, McKee and Allen were removed from the trailer (T-29).

On a bunk bed in the trailer, Taylor found a bag containing smaller bags of methamphetamine in it and so testified.

Clay McCombs testified that he was both a Leake County Deputy Sheriff and an agent of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics, that he took part in the search (T-37), that he put the methamphetamine that had fallen on the ground from the sewer pipe into a paper bag (T-42), that he took charge of the bag of methamphetamine that had been on the bunk, that he found a small metal container with apparent methamphetamine inside, that he found another bag of what appeared to be methamphetamine under the bunk bed (T-49), that he found some methamphetamine on a dining room table, and found more methamphetamine in the toilet in the trailer (T-52), that the three people from the trailer were taken to the Leake County jail and that he questioned the Appellant.

On motion to suppress a statement Appellant had made at said interrogation, the Court held a Jackson-Denno hearing out of the presence of the jury concerning the voluntariness of the confession (T-54 et seq).

McComb testified (T-59, 60):

A. I asked her whose meth it was, and she claimed that it was hers. She stated that it was all hers. I asked her how she obtained it, who she got if from. She stated that she had made it. I asked her to tell me the process of how she made it. She stated that she could not; that she had that recipe written down. At that point I asked her again was it all hers or was she covering for someone else. At that time she didn't really give me an answer, but her body language changed. She just kind of dropped her head and wouldn't talk to me.



After the State presented jailer Sarah Thames to corroborate McCombs account of

the interrogation, the prosecution rested on the motion. Appellee called Alisa Welsh, employer of Leake County Correctional Facility who testified that Appellant asked her to notify McCombs that Appellant wanted to talk to him (T-72). She testified that she notified the sheriff's office but McCombs never came.

Appellant testified on the motion that she at different times had asked Ms. Welsh and jailer Josh Smith to contact McCombs, but McCombs never came, and that her purpose in making the effort to talk to McCombs was to recant her confession.

*

She further testified (T-75, 76):

- Q. Well, did you admit to Clay -
- A. Yes, I did. I did say that it was mine.
- Q. And why did you do that?
- A. Because I didn't want Wayne to go to prison. He was already a convicted felon.
- Q. And he was one of the other defendants in this case?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. All right. Now, was that a truthful statement you gave Clay?
- A. No, sir, it was not.
- Q. And the reason - why did you want to talk to him again?
- A. Because I wanted to tell him that. I even sent that word to him.
- Q. Do you know how to cook meth?
- A. No, sir, I do not.
- Q. You say the statement was not truthful. Is that correct?
- A. That's correct.

4 The Court found the confession voluntary (T-77).

The jury was recalled and McCombs reiterated his account of the confession to the jury, and on cross examination testified that McKee and not Appellant was the subject of the search, as shown on the search warrant, that the trailer was owned by McKee and that it had been located on land owned by McKee or his family (T-91), that when he went in the trailer McKee was standing by the toilet (T-92) and that Allen and McKee had already pled guilty to the charge (T-101).

world to recont sacontessib Sarah Thames again verified McCombs' account of the interrogation.

Keith McMann, forensic scientist at the Mississippi Crime Lab, testified that the various substances found in and around the trailer and delivered to the lab were methamphetamine.

The State rested (T-122) and the Court denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

Appellant's first witness, reiterated her motion testimony and Jason McKee testified that Appellant had accompanied a friend of his to visit him, had been at the trailer five to ten minutes when the raid began (T-127), that he had pled guilty to possession of the methamphetamine, that the drugs were his and not Wendy Cheatham's, that as part of his plea bargain the Court had retained jurisdiction of the case "for truthful testimony" (T-128) and that (T-129):

- Q. And so the meth that was found there, one last time, whose was it?
- A. It was mine. It all belonged to me.

that Wayne Allen was probably there to buy drugs and that Appellant had never bought drugs from him.

Appellant testified that she had accompanied Wayne Allen to visit McKee and to get window tint from McKee for Allen's vehicle, that she did not own, touch or cook any of the drugs, that she had been at McKee's trailer five to ten minutes when the raid began, that she did not know how to cook methamphetamine, and that she had confessed that the drugs were hers and that she had cooked or prepared them because she thought in doing so she was protecting Allen, with whom she had a romantic relationship (T-135).

On cross examination she testified (T-136):

Q. If you and Wayne just went there for a window tint, why didn't you tell them it was all Jason's?

A. Because when I walked in, Wayne started opening up a can on the - - a can of spray on the seat here and pulling some stuff out. Well, I got up and asked him where the phone was. I wanted a cell phone. He said it was in the truck. So I went to the truck and looked for the cell phone. When I came back, there was dope everywhere, and I knew Wayne was involved in it.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An uncorroborated confession accompanied by credible testimony that the confession is false, from a witness with no apparent motivation to lie, does not authorize conviction. On review such a conviction should be overturned.

ARGUMENT

THE VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In a criminal trial, the State bears the burden of proving each element of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt and of overcoming the presumption of innocence. Hedrick v. State 637 So. 2d 834 (Miss. 1994); Jones v. State, 798 So. 2d 124 (Miss. 2001); Edge v. State, 393 So. 2d 1337 (Miss. 1981); Love v. State, 208 S. 2d 755 (Miss. 1968).

The United States Supreme Court held in In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970) "that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged".

The entire set of circumstances surrounding Appellant's arrest, the content of her confession, the response to it by the interrogating officer made unlikely the truth of the content of her confession. In the confession she claimed that she had manufactured the drug, but could not remember how to do it absent a written recipe.

The fact that before the raid she had been at the trailer only five to ten minutes part of which had been spent going back outside to Wayne Allen's vehicle to retrieve a cell phone, made it unlikely that she had prepared and hidden the drugs in the various locations where they were found.

The content of the confession, that she had not only owned the drugs but had cooked or prepared them, made much more likely her testimony that she, in confessing, was simply trying to protect the man with whom she had a romantic relationship.

The testimony of her co-indictee, McKee, who admitted that the contraband was his, and not hers despite the fact that, in testifying so, he endangered his plea bargain if he was untruthful, confirmed her own testimony that the confession was false.

The only evidence against her other than her presence at the trailer for a very short time was her confession. The set of circumstances surrounding her presence there, the unlikeliness of the truth of the content of the confession, the testimony of McKee that she had no ownership of the drugs (and that they belonged to him), the fact that this testimony, if untruthful, was against his penal interest, the simple fact that she had no dominion over the trailer (it was McKee's) and that the documents surrounding the

search warrant named McKee and not her as the suspected possessor of contraband drugs, the unlikeliness of the details of the confession he believability of her motive for falsely confessing militate against the credibility of the confession.

If a confession is uncorroborated, that fact is sufficient to require granting a motion for a directed verdict. Anderson v. State, 184 Miss. 892, 186 So. 836 (1939). In

Anderson, the Appellant's confession that he had removed handcuffs from a prisoner's arms was insufficiently corroborated to authorize conviction of aiding the prisoner's escape, in absence of corroborating evidence that the handcuffs were removed by someone other than the prisoner.

In the case before the Court, the absence of corroboration of the confession was accompanied by testimony of a witness, who had a compelling motivation to be truthful and no apparent motive to lie, that the confession was false. McKee's testimony verified Appellant's innocence, and combined with the circumstances of the raid and the unlikeliness of the details of the confession could not make the confession constitute proof of Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, because the possibility that Appellant held no dominion over the contraband was not beyond reason. No reasonable juror could have found otherwise.

The verdict should be overturned.

CONCLUSION

The verdict must be overturned.