IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WENDY MICHELLE CHEATHAM

APPELLANT

VS.

÷ ,

NO. 2008-KA-0090

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. The verdict is supported by the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about October 29, 2007, Cheatham, along with Jason McKee and Malcolm Allen, was indicted by the Leake County Grand Jury for possession of over 30 grams of methamphetamine. McKee and Allen pled guilty. Cheatham was tried in the Circuit Court of Leake County on January 8, 2008. She was found guilty of possession of over 30 grams of methamphetamine and sentence to serve ten (10) years intel-custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, four years suspended and four years post-conviction supervision. While in confinement, Cheatham was ordered to participate in long term drug and alcohol treatment. The instant appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 11, 2007, officers of the Leake County Sheriff's Department and the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics executed a search warrant on a camper in Leake County. (Tr. 25) Leake County Sheriff Greg Waggoner testified that as he approached the camper, there were two or three vehicles in the yard. He saw Cheatham on the outside of the camper as he approached. She appeared to be looking for something in one of the vehicles. Sheriff Waggoner observed her for a few minutes until she went back into the camper. (Tr. 27) Waggoner went to the back side of the camper. He could hear people moving inside. He heard voices and heard the commode flush. He grabbed the drain pipe and what was being flushed out fell to the ground. He observed that the substance appeared to be methamphetamine that was flushed out through the commode. (Tr. 28) Waggoner remained with the substance until Officer Clay McComb took custody of it. (Tr. 28) Sherrif Waggoner then entered the camper. The search was ongoing when he entered.He testified that the officers had difficulty getting the occupants of the trailer to come outside.(Tr. 29)

Officer Craig Taylor, who was at the time of the execution of the search warrant an officer with the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics, identified the black bag taken from the camper, which contained plastic bags that contained a white crystalline substance. He testified that he instructed Officer Clay McCombs as to where the bag was and the Officer McCombs took possession of it. (Tr. 33)

Officer Clay McCombs testified that when they arrived at the camper to execute the search, the officers identified themselves as law enforcement and tried to enter the camper. The camper had one door. The officers knocked on the door and tried to open it, but it remained locked. Officer McCombs testified that he was able to see in the windows and could tell that there were three people inside. The door eventually came open and the officers began bringing the people in the camper outside. (Tr. 40) There were three people in the camper, Malcolm Allen, Jason McKee and Wendy Cheatham. McCombs testified that he took into custody the substance that had been flushed through the drain pipe, He also testified that he took into custody the bag that Officer Taylor brought to his attention. The bag was found inside the camper near the bed. (Tr. 46) McCombs also identified a small metal container which he took into custody. It was found on the dining room table just inside the door of the camper. (Tr. 49) McCombs also identified a plastic bag he found in the toilet, floating in the water. (Tr. 52)

Officer McCombs further testified that the next day her interviewed Cheatham.

Chreathan in custody

4

McCombs gave Cheatham a miranda warning. Cheatham then signed a waiver of rights. (Tr.

81) Officer McCombs testified as follows:

I asked her whose methamphetamine it was that we had found the night before. She stated that it was hers. I asked her how she obtained it, where she got it from. She told me that she had made it. I asked her . . . to tell me the process of how it was made. She said she couldn't tell me; that she had the recipe written down. I then asked her if she was just telling me that to cover for someone else, whether it was just somebody else's dope and she was just claiming it; and she wouldn't answer. She just kind of sat there. That was about the extent of her statements to me.

(Tr. 84)

Ms. Sarah Thames testified that she was present for the conversation between Clay McCombs and Ms Cheatham. She testified that Officer McCombs read Cheatham her rights and that Cheatham did not ask for an attorney or ask to end the interview. (Tr. 104) The testified the Cheatham told McCombs that the drugs were hers and that she had a recipe for making methamphetamine.

Keith McMann, a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory testified that he identified the evidence retrieved from the camper. Exhibit 1 was 76.07 grams of methamphetamine, Exhibit 2 contained 57.27 grams of methamphetamine, Exhibit 3 contained 1.01 grams of methamphetamine, Exhibit 4 contained 26.59 grams of methamphetamine, Exhibit 5 contained .93 grams of methamphetamine, Exhibit 7 contained 3.44 grams of methamphetamine and exhibit 8 contained 1.22 grams of methamphetamine.

Jason McKee testified that he owned the camper and the land it was on belonged to his father. (Tr. 127) He testified the Cheatham came to the camper with Wayne Allen and that they often came to the camper to buy drugs. He testified that the drugs were his. McKee testified that

he and Allen had both pled guilty to possession.

Wendy Cheatham testified that she believed that she and Wayne Allen were going to McKee's trailer to get window tint. She testified that she had been dating Allen for four or five months and that she thought she was protecting him by claiming the drugs. Cheatham testified that when she was in the trailer with McKee and Allen she knew that there was methamphetamine in the trailer. (Tr. 137)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence is this case clearly shows that Cheatham was in joint possession of over 100 grams of methamphetamine. She was present in a small camper with the other two defendants, within grabbing reach of the drugs and had come with her boyfriend on other occasions. She admitted that she knew the drugs were there and that she knew what they were. She was in very close proximity to the drugs, sufficient to constitute dominion and control. Further, Cheatham admitted the drugs were hers in her interview with Officer McCombs. While Cheatham may wish to distance herself from that admission now, and even if she embellished her role in order to protect her boyfriend, the jury clearly believed her admission that drugs were hers was truthful. It is the jury's duty to determine veracity of witnesses. Her admission plus her proximity and knowledge of the drugs is sufficient to find her guilty of possession.

The weight of the evidence presented at trial, when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, could have led a reasonable trier of fact to find Cheatham guilty of possession of more than 30 grams of methamphetamines. Therefore, the verdict was not so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence so as to cause an unconscionable injustice. This issue is without merit.

6

ARGUMENT

A trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial should only be reversed when the	
reviewing court finds that there was an abuse of discretion. Sheffield v. State, 749 So.2d 123,	
127 (Miss.1999). A motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence, and the	
appellate court should only "disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight	
of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Bush v.	
State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss.2005). The evidence should be viewed in the light most	
favorable to the prosecution, and the court must ask whether any rational trier of fact could have	, this pog
found the essential elements of the charged crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 843.	- to subling
Cheatham contends that the weight of the evidence did not support the jury's finding of guilt in	Evidence, not the wieght
the alleged charges Cheatham claims that the prosecution did not present sufficient evidence to	we are only Concerned in
support ther conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. The prosecution made its case on the theory	Reweightof the evidence
of constructive possession, "a legal fiction used by courts when actual possession cannot be	
proven." Fultz v. State, 573 So.2d 689, 690 (Miss.1990). In Mississippi, proximity to the	
contraband along with "any other scintilla of evidence of possession" may establish constructive	
possession. Id. The test to be applied in a constructive possession case is as follows:	
[T]here must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that defendant	
not be actual physical possession. Constructive possession may be	
	reviewing court finds that there was an abuse of discretion. Sheffield v. State, 749 So.2d 123, 127 (Miss.1999). A motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence, and the appellate court should only "disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Bush v. $ddson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ buck $dson(Van, C, rev)$ be a buck $dson(Van, C, rev$

this is correct

.

and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it. It need not be actual physical possession. Constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the drug involved was subjected to his dominion or control. Proximity is usually an essential element, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other incriminating circumstances.

Curry v. State, 249 So.2d 414, 416 (Miss.1971).

In Mississippi, "one who is the owner in possession of the premises is presumed to be in constructive possession of the articles found in or on the property possessed." *Pool v. State*, 483 So.2d 331, 336 (Miss.1986) (quoting *Hamburg v. State*, 248 So.2d 430, 432 (Miss.1971)). Our supreme court has held that "when the defendant is not the owner of the premises the state must show additional incriminating circumstances to justify a finding of constructive possession. *Id.* $\Im 333334$ (citing *Boches v. State*, 506 So.2d 254, 259 (Miss.1987)).

Possession of a controlled substance may be actual or constructive, individual or joint. Wolf v. State, 260 So.2d 425, 432 (Miss.1972). The State further argues that Berry was aware of the presence and character of the cocaine and was consciously and intentionally in possession of it as required by *Cunningham*, 583 So.2d at 960, and *Curry*, 249 So.2d at 416.

The evidence is this case clearly shows that Cheatham was in joint possession of over 100 grams of methamphetamine. She was present in a small camper within grabbing reach of the drugs and had come with her boyfriend on other occasions. She admitted that she knew the drugs were there and she knew what they were. She was in very close proximity to the drugs, sufficient to constitute dominion and control. Further, Cheatham admitted the drugs were hers in her interview with Officer McCombs. While Cheatham may wish to distance herself from that admission now, and even if she embellished her role in order to protect her boyfriend, the jury clearly believed her admission that drugs were hers was truthful. It is the sole province of the jury to determine the veracity of witnesses. Her admission plus her proximity and knowledge of the drugs is sufficient to find her guilty of possession.

The weight of the evidence presented at trial, when viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, could have led a reasonable trier of fact to find Cheatham guilty of possession of more than 30 grams of methamphetamines. Therefore, the verdict was not so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence so as to cause an unconscionable injustice. This issue is without merit and the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The jury's verdict was supported by the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the trial court correctly denied Cheatham's Motion for New Trial. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.